
City of Depoe Bay 
Parks Commission Monthly Meeting 

February 21, 2024 – Wednesday, noon 
Depoe Bay City Hall – 570 SE Shell Avenue 

The meeting location is accessible to the public or call (888) 204-5987, access code 9599444 to attend. 
Public comments may be made via email up to two hours before the meeting start time at 

info@cityofdepoebay.org. 

AGENDA 

A. Call Meeting to Order and Establish a Quorum

B. Approve Meeting Minutes
1) Parks Commission Special Meeting Minutes – 12-20-2023

C. Unfinished Business
1) Recreational Immunity (Update)
2) Change to Parks and Recreation Commission (Update)

D. New Business
1) Animal Waste at City Park – New Code Consideration

Action:
2) FY 24/25 Budget Wish List Discussion

E. Community Events
1) Special Olympics Polar Plunge
2) Community Clean Up Day

F. Staff Reports
1) Public Works Director
2) City Recorder

G. Parks Commissioners Concerns

H. Adjourn

Depoe Bay City Hall is accessible to people with disabilities. If special accommodations are needed, please notify 
City Recorder at 765-2361 48 Hours in advance of the meeting so that appropriate assistance can be provided. 

TTY#1-800-735-2900 

“This institution is an equal opportunity provider.” 

Page 1 of 62

mailto:info@cityofdepoebay.org


Depoe Bay Parks Commission Regular Meeting Minutes 
Wednesday, December 20, 2023 – 12:00 PM 
Depoe Bay City Hall 
 
PRESENT: R. Vincent, T. Monday, I. Ferreira, S. Sharp 
ABSENT: K. Lauer  
STAFF: City Recorder K. Wollenburg; Admin Assistant G. Burke 
GUEST(S): None 
 
A. CALL MEETING TO ORDER AND ESTABLISH A QUORUM 

Vincent called the meeting to order and established a quorum at noon. 
 

B. MEETING MINUTES 
Motion to approve the minutes from October 25, 2023 and November 22, 2023 Parks 
Commission special meetings made by Vincent; seconded by Monday. 

 
  Motion Passed: 4/0 
  Ayes: R. Vincent, T. Monday, I. Ferreira, S. Sharp 
 
C. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

1) Recreational Immunity 
Chair Vincent wondered if others in the Parks Commission had been following 
the news regarding the recent court ruling that ended Oregon’s recreational 
immunity waiver(s). City Recorder Wollenburg said that she has recently learned 
about this issue and was also sent a Statesman Journal article about the topic by 
Councilor Beasley. There is concern about beach access trails, and some trails 
have been closed in other cities. City Recorder Wollenburg said that Councilor 
Beasley wondered if the topic should be presented to the City Council for further 
discussion. She said that the Council has decided, as of now, that they don’t 
want to close anything, even at the recommendation of our insurance 
company. City Recorder Wollenburg noted her concerns about some of the 
access trails at the north point and the Bob Jackson Park steps. Chair Vincent 
said that he was concerned about the area by the whale statue. City Recorder 
Wollenburg shared that the concern was that these access points lead to the 
water or to the water’s edge.  
 
Chair Vincent asked if the Council understands the ramifications if someone gets 
hurt, and the potential for injury lawsuits. City Recorder Wollenburg said that the 
situation has been explained to the Council; she added that Parks Commission 
members can recommend consideration of closing trails to the City Council. City 
Recorder Wollenburg said that another idea is to review the document that she 
provided to the Parks Commission members titled “Public Playground Safety 
Handbook” by the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission. Copies of the 
document were provided to all members of the Parks Commission. She said that 
it might be useful to refer to when members of the Parks Commission visit the City 
parks after the first of the year. She mentioned that one of the goals of visiting 
the City parks is to take an inventory of some of the parks’ safety concerns and 
needs.  

Page 2 of 62



 
Chair Vincent asked if we have a safety checklist, and City Recorder Wollenburg 
answered yes. Commissioner Monday asked what would happen if the City 
closed the access trails and people ignored the signs and still accessed the trails 
to go down to the water. He asked if the City would be responsible for any 
injuries in that case, and City Recorder Wollenburg replied that the City would 
not be responsible because they would be recreating at their own risk. 
Commissioner Monday replied that it is likely that people will ignore the signs and 
go on to closed trails and access points; City Recorder Wollenburg considered 
that would be the case, but added again that they would be recreating at their 
own risk if they ignored the closure signs. Commissioner Sharp mentioned that 
there appeared to be a blockage to an access point by the bridge, and City 
Recorder Wollenburg said she wasn’t aware of it but would go take a look at it 
later that day.  
 

2) Change to Parks and Recreation Commission 
City Recorder Wollenburg said that currently the Parks Commission just focuses 
on the maintenance of Depoe Bay’s parks; however, asked if the Commission 
was interested in assisting the City with planning, supporting, and staffing local 
City events for the community. Examples are the annual Polar Plunge and 
National Night Out. Also suggested by members is to create things like movies in 
the Park, etc. The Commission expressed high support for the idea. City Recorder 
Wollenburg suggested that someone from the Parks Commission make a 
recommendation to the City Council to consider increasing the scope of the 
Parks Commission to include a recreational aspect, to focus on community 
events but which could possibly help with tourism to bring more dollars to Depoe 
Bay.  
 
City Recorder Wollenburg spoke about the project to improve Bay Street, which 
will also help Depoe Bay’s walkability and help tourists and residents stay safe. 
She said that a grant has been secured by the City for the building of a new 
sidewalk on Bay Street.  
 
Chair Vincent asked the members how they felt about expanding the Parks 
Commission to include doing more recreational events for the City, and the 
members all agreed they supported the idea. City Recorder Wollenburg shared 
the attached documents to the agenda of the proposed changes to the name 
and function of the Parks Commission based, in part, on how other cities 
structure their Parks and Recreation Commissions. She said that there is space for 
seven Commission members. If the proposed changes are approved, City 
Recorder Wollenburg believes it is possible that more community volunteers will 
come forward to be involved in planning and staffing City events. Chair Vincent 
agreed. All members agreed that encouraging events to have more of a local 
feel would be best. Commissioner Monday said that he’s seen on social media 
that the people of Depoe Bay want to have more events in the City attended by 
locals.  
 

Page 3 of 62



City Recorder Wollenburg suggested the idea of adult enrichment classes at the 
Community Hall and to plan for a Spring Clean-up Day. Commissioner Monday 
said that he would like to see the Parks Commission planning for events well in 
advance, perhaps up to a year in advance for larger events.  

 
D. NEW BUSINESS 

None. 
 
E.   Staff Reports 

1)  Public Works Director 
None.   

 
2) City Recorder 

 
1) PARKS COMMISSIONER CONCERNS 

Vincent – If the Parks Commission ends up taking over the Salmon Bake event, the 
planning would need to start immediately after the first of the year. Prices may be 
much higher than the prior year. City Recorder Wollenburg noted that the City is not 
going to be taking over the event per the direction of the Council. 
 
Monday – Asked about more banners for spring. Perhaps Depoe Bay could ask local 
artists to create seasonal banners for the City.  
 
Ferreira – None. 
 
Sharp—None.  
 

2) ADJOURNMENT. Meeting adjourned by Chair Vincent at 12:57 PM. 
 
 
Submitted by:     Reviewed by: 
 
 
               
Gena Burke                            Kimberly Wollenburg 
Administrative Assistant      City Recorder 

Page 4 of 62



Title 6 
ANIMALS 

 
 
 60.10 Animals generally. 

60.11 Animals at large. 
 60.12 Dangerous animals. 
 60.13 Animal waste – Removal and disposal. 
 60.14 Removal of carcasses. 
 60.15 Animals in parks and open space areas. 
 60.16 Nuisances declared – Abatement procedures. 
 60.17 Violation – Penalty. 
 60.18 Continuing violations – Additional remedies. 
 60.19 Severability. 
 
 
 
60.10 Animals generally. 
 
60.11 Animals at large. 

 
A. No owner or person in charge of an animal shall permit the animal to be at large. 
 
B. Animals at large may be taken into custody and disposed of as directed by the Lincoln 

County Sheriff’s Office. 
 
60.12 Dangerous animals. 
 
No owner or person in charge of an animal dangerous to the public health or safety shall permit 
such an animal to be exposed in public. If such an animal is exposed in public, it may be taken 
into custody and disposed of as directed by the Lincoln County Sheriff’s Office; except that 
before any animal is disposed of, the owner or person in charge shall be entitled to hearing 
before the City Council. 
 
60.13 Animal waste – Removal and disposal. 
 

A. It shall be the duty of each person who owns, possesses or controls an animal to 
immediately remove and properly dispose of any fecal matter left by such animal on any 
sidewalk, street, right-of-way, park or other public area. It shall further be the duty of 
each person who owns, possesses or controls an animal to immediately remove and 
properly dispose of any fecal matter left by such animal on any private property, which is 
neither owned nor occupied by the person. No person shall permit animal waste to remain 
on private property owned or controlled by the person for a period of time longer than is 
reasonably necessary to remove and properly dispose of the animal waste. 

 

Page 5 of 62



B. No person who owns, possesses or controls an animal shall appear with such animal on 
any sidewalk, street, right-of-way, park or other public area without the means of removal 
of any fecal matter left by such animal. Further, no person who owns, possesses or 
controls an animal shall appear on any private property, which is neither owned nor 
occupied by the person, without materials or implements that, either alone or in 
combination with each other, can be used to immediately and in a sanitary and alwful 
manner, both remove and dispose of any fecal matter left by such animal. 

 
C. For purposes of this section, “proper disposal” means transporting the animal fecal matter 

to a place or receptacle suitable for the disposal of animal feces. Leaving the fecal matter 
in a bag along the side of the road is not proper disposal and is a violation of subsection 
(A) of this section. 
 

D. This section does not apply to a service dog that is specially trained to assist a person 
with a disability and that was in the custody or control of that disabled person at the time 
it defecated or was otherwise present on private property or on property located in a 
public place. 

 
60.14 Removal of carcasses. 
 
No person shall permit an animal carcass owned or controlled by him to remain upon public 
property, or to be exposed on private property, for a period of time longer than is reasonably 
necessary to remove or dispose of the carcass. 
 
60.15 Animals in parks and open space areas. 

 
A. Domesticated animals must be on a leash at all times when on city park or open space 

properties. 
 
B. Domesticated animals are prohibited from playground areas, sports courts, ponds, 

streams and wetland areas, and inside park and recreation buildings and facilities, except 
as authorized under the Americans with Disabilities Act or when specifically authorized 
by the City Recorder or designee. 

 
C. Owners are responsible for the immediate removal of their animals’ fecal matter from 

parks and open space properties or facilities. 
 
D. The owner of any animal damaging or destroying park or open space property of the city 

will be held liable for the full value of the property so damaged or destroyed, in addition 
to any impounding fees and penalties otherwise lawfully imposed. 

 
60.16 Nuisances declared – Abatement procedures. 
 
The acts, conditions or objects specifically enumerated and defined in DBMC 60.10 through 
60.18 are declared to be public nuisances; and such acts, conditions or objects may be abated by 
any of the procedures set forth in Chapter _____ DBMC. 

Page 6 of 62

https://www.codepublishing.com/OR/LincolnCity/#!/LincolnCity08/LincolnCity0816.html#8.16


 
60.17 Violation – Penalty. 
 

A. Any person who violates any of the provisions of DBMC 60.11 or 60.13 commits a Class 
C violation. 

 
B. Any person who violates any of the provisions of DBMC 60.12 commits a Class B 

violation. 
 
60.18 Continuing violations – Additional remedies. 
 

A. Each day’s violation of a provision of this chapter constitutes a separate offense. 
 

B. The abatement of a nuisance is not a penalty for violation of this chapter, but is an 
additional remedy. The imposition of a penalty does not relieve a person of the duty to 
abate the nuisance; however, abatement of a nuisance within 10 days of the date of notice 
to abate, or, if written protest has been filed, then abatement within 10 days of council 
determination that a nuisance exists, will relieve the person responsible from the 
imposition of any forfeiture or fine under DBMC 60.17. 

 
60.19 Severability. 
 
Each section, subsection, sentence, clause and phrase of this ordinance is declared to be an 
independent section, subsection, sentence, clause and phrase, and the finding or holding of any 
such portion of this Ordinance to be unconstitutional, void, or ineffective for any cause, or 
reason, shall not affect any other provision of this Ordinance. 

Page 7 of 62



Poop & Scoop Law

City Ordinance Section 3-4-6: Poop and Scoop
Law (Pet Waste)
"All pet owners and keepers are required to immediately

and properly dispose of their pet's solid waste deposited on

any property, public or private, not owned or possessed by

the person. On any property owned or possessed by that

person, all pet owners and keepers are required to dispose

of their pet's solid waste at a frequency of at least weekly or

more frequently if necessary to prevent a public health

nuisance." 

Potential Fine: From $250 to $1,000

To report a violation in City Parks (police o�cer must witness

the violation) or to report excessive dog waste within an

animal enclosure, Contact 3-1-1. To report a violation in the

case of an individual failing to pick up after their pet in their

own yard (unsanitary conditions), contact the Health

Department's Environmental Health Unit at 201-568-3450.

Pet waste is a subject everyone likes to avoid, although

we at the Englewood Health Department like to bring it

up often.

Pet waste is ugly and smelly. But even worse, it poses a

health risk to pets, bodies of water, and people. Left on

sidewalks, streets, trails, and grassy areas, pet waste

immediately goes into a storm drain when it rains,

where it travels untreated to your neighborhood stream

or lake.

Select Language

TranslatePage 8 of 62

https://translate.google.com/
https://translate.google.com/
https://translate.google.com/
https://translate.google.com/


Like human waste, the animal waste contains harmful

bacteria and viruses, making the receiving water un�t

for drinking and recreation. In addition, pet waste

contains nutrients that will accelerate the growth of

nuisance algae.

Dog owners must pick up waste deposited by their pets

on others' property or public property - the "pooper

scooper" regulation.

Pet owners must have all dogs and cats, four months of

age or older, vaccinated against rabies.

Dog owners must annually purchase City of Englewood

dog licenses for all dogs seven months of age or older.

They can be purchased, at any time after the animal has

received its �rst rabies inoculation, at the Englewood

Health Department and at all area governmental

centers. The cost for City of Englewood residents is $12

for fertile dogs and $8 for infertile dogs.

There are "dog runs" located in the 1st, 2nd, and 4th

wards. Please contact the Administration O�ce at 201-

871-6635.

Owners must register dogs found by a court to be

dangerous.

Pet owners who violate these City of Englewood animal

regulations may, for example, incur penalties of up to $250

in �nes (for the "pooper scooper" regulation) or up to a

year's con�nement in jail and/or a �ne of up to $2,500 (for

violating the dangerous dog ordinance).

Citizens may report infractions of these regulations to the

Englewood Health Department at 201-568-3450, Monday

through Friday, 9 am to 4:30 pm, or the Englewood Police

Department at 201-568-2711 during the o�-hours of

evenings and weekends.

TranslatePage 9 of 62

https://translate.google.com/
https://translate.google.com/
https://translate.google.com/
https://translate.google.com/


11/2/23, 4:19 PM Dog poop ordinance difficult for municipalities to enforce | | times-news.com

https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-difficult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html 1/3

https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-di�cult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html

Dog poop ordinance dif�cult for municipalities to enforce

Tess Hill

Aug 11, 2009

A sign in this parklet along Pershing Street in Cumberland advises pet owners to clean up dog waste or face a possible �ne. City o�cials say enforcement is tough because

complainants must appear as witnesses in court.

Steve Bittner/Times-News

Cumberland Times-News

CUMBERLAND — Coming inside your newly remodeled home and walking through the living room, to the kitchen, upstairs and sitting

on the couch only to �nd you had just tracked dog feces all over your clean home. Not a pretty situation.

A Frederick Street man who called in a complaint was surprised to learn that taking care of the problem is not as simple as just

contacting the right city of�cial. Having a section in the city code to address the issue is just a start. Enforcement of the violation is

where it gets tricky.

Established in October 1990, Chapter 4.11 of the city’s Municipal Code says “any person owning, keeping, possessing or harboring any

dog or cat shall promptly remove and dispose of all feces left by the dog or cat on any public property and on any private property not

Page 10 of 62

https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-difficult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html
https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-difficult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-difficult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html%20%7C%20Dog%20poop%20ordinance%20difficult%20for%20municipalities%20to%20enforce
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-difficult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html%20%7C%20Dog%20poop%20ordinance%20difficult%20for%20municipalities%20to%20enforce
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-difficult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html&summary=Dog%20poop%20ordinance%20difficult%20for%20municipalities%20to%20enforce
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-difficult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html&summary=Dog%20poop%20ordinance%20difficult%20for%20municipalities%20to%20enforce
http://pinterest.com/pin/create/button/?url=https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-difficult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html&media=https://bloximages.chicago2.vip.townnews.com/times-news.com/content/tncms/assets/v3/editorial/8/27/8272d0ea-7116-5deb-8985-734609f29fe2/53e3402749900.image.jpg?resize=760%2C532&description=Dog%20poop%20ordinance%20difficult%20for%20municipalities%20to%20enforce
http://pinterest.com/pin/create/button/?url=https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-difficult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html&media=https://bloximages.chicago2.vip.townnews.com/times-news.com/content/tncms/assets/v3/editorial/8/27/8272d0ea-7116-5deb-8985-734609f29fe2/53e3402749900.image.jpg?resize=760%2C532&description=Dog%20poop%20ordinance%20difficult%20for%20municipalities%20to%20enforce
mailto:?subject=Dog%20poop%20ordinance%20difficult%20for%20municipalities%20to%20enforce&body=https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-difficult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html
mailto:?subject=Dog%20poop%20ordinance%20difficult%20for%20municipalities%20to%20enforce&body=https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-difficult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html


11/2/23, 4:19 PM Dog poop ordinance difficult for municipalities to enforce | | times-news.com

https://www.times-news.com/dog-poop-ordinance-difficult-for-municipalities-to-enforce/article_b02842df-5a5b-5daa-96aa-a119df6b79c1.html 2/3

owned by such person or lawfully occupied by such person.”

This section also states that any person who violates the code will be guilty of a municipal infraction and issued a $25 �ne.

Chuck Winebrenner, code enforcement of�cer for the city’s nuisance/property maintenance, said �rst and foremost, anyone who makes

a complaint must be prepared to be a witness in court.

“Obviously, I cannot see each individual case; therefore, the complainant must provide me with a name, address, time and place and be

prepared to go to court as a witness,” Winebrenner said.

“The issue dissipates when people are told that they would have to agree to go to court as the eyewitness,” he said. “For the most part, I

see people walking dogs and carrying plastic market bags for pickup. In cases where I have issued a letter of complaint, I have not had

any further instances of the complaint.”

Cumberland Police Chief Charles Hinnant said the department has seen this type of case happen, but rarely charges people with

violating the city’s code.

“However, if a citizen calls us and has personally witnessed the event, we can take a written statement from them and interview the

alleged perpetrator,” he wrote in an e-mail. “If, as a result of our investigation we believe the act has occurred, and we have identi�ed

the individual responsible, we can �le charges.”

He also reinforced that it is absolutely necessary to summon the witness to court to give testimony as the charge is a misdemeanor not

committed in the presence of a police of�cer.

Frostburg also has an ordinance similar to Cumberland’s. The Frostburg ordinance requires owners to “immediately remove and

thereafter dispose of any fecal matter deposited by his dog on any public property or on any private property without the consent of

the owner or person in lawful possession of said private property.” The ordinance also states how to dispose of fecal matter.

Frostburg City Administrator said he thinks this is a problem most communities have.

“Some people do it and some people don’t,” he said. “But �ning someone for violating this ordinance is very dif�cult to do — you

almost have to see the animal do it and then connect the animal to a homeowner. You can't just take a third party’s word for it.”

Kirby said the amount of the �ne varies depending on how many infractions the violator has.

All complaints in the city concerning this matter can be reported to Cumberland’s Nuisance/Property Maintenance Department at

(301) 759-6638.

Contact Tess Hill at thill@times-news.com.

Trending Video

Page 11 of 62

mailto:thill@times-news.com


1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

SB 1576-3

(LC 228)

2/5/24 (RLM/ps)

Requested by SENATE COMMITTEE ON JUDICIARY

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

SENATE BILL 1576

In line 2 of the printed bill, after “matters” insert “; creating new pro-

visions; amending ORS 105.668, 105.672 and 105.688; and declaring an emer-

gency”.

Delete lines 4 through 8 and insert:

“SECTION 1. ORS 105.668 is amended to read:

“105.668. (1) As used in this section:

“(a) ‘Local government’ has the meaning given that term in ORS

174.116.

“[(a)] (b) ‘Structures’ means improvements in a trail, including, but not

limited to, stairs and bridges, that are accessible by a user on foot, on a

horse or on a bicycle or other nonmotorized vehicle or conveyance.

“[(b)] (c) ‘Unimproved right of way’ means a platted or dedicated public

right of way over which a street, road or highway has not been constructed

to the standards and specifications of the [city] local government with ju-

risdiction over the public right of way and for which the [city] local gov-

ernment has not expressly accepted responsibility for maintenance.

“(2) In a city with a population of 500,000 or greater, a personal injury

or property damage resulting from use of a trail that is in a public easement

or in an unimproved right of way, or from use of structures in the public

easement or unimproved right of way, by a user on foot, on a horse or on a

bicycle or other nonmotorized vehicle or conveyance does not give rise to a

Page 12 of 62



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

private claim or right of action based on negligence against:

“[(a) A city with a population of 500,000 or more;]

“(a) The city;

“(b) The officers, employees or agents of [a city with a population of

500,000 or more] the city to the extent the officers, employees or agents are

entitled to defense and indemnification under ORS 30.285;

“(c) The owner of land abutting the public easement[,] or unimproved

right of way[, in a city with a population of 500,000 or more] in the city; or

“(d) A nonprofit corporation and its volunteers for the construction and

maintenance of the trail or the structures in a public easement or unim-

proved right of way in [a city with a population of 500,000 or more] the

city.

“(3) [Notwithstanding the limit in subsection (2) of this section to a city

with a population of 500,000 or more, by adoption of an ordinance or resol-

ution, a city or county] A local government to which subsection (2) of this

section does not apply may opt to limit liability in the manner established

by subsection (2) of this section by ordinance, resolution, rule, order or

other regulation for:

“[(a) The city or county that opts in by ordinance or resolution;]

“(a) The local government;

“(b) The officers, employees or agents of the [city or county that opts in]

local government to the extent the officers, employees or agents are enti-

tled to defense and indemnification under ORS 30.285;

“(c) The owner of land abutting the public easement[,] or unimproved

right of way[, in the city or county that opts in by ordinance or resolution;

and] in the local government; or

“(d) A nonprofit corporation and its volunteers for the construction and

maintenance of the trail or the structures in a public easement or unim-

proved right of way in the [city or county that opts in] local government.

“(4) [The immunity granted by this section from a private claim or right

 SB 1576-3 2/5/24
 Proposed Amendments to SB 1576 Page 2

Page 13 of 62



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

of action based on negligence] This section does not grant immunity from

liability:

“(a) Except as provided in subsection (2)(b) or (3)(b) of this section, to a

person that receives compensation for providing assistance, services or ad-

vice in relation to conduct that leads to a personal injury or property dam-

age.

“(b) For [personal injury or property damage resulting from] gross

negligence or [from] reckless, wanton or intentional misconduct.

“(c) For an activity for which [a person] the actor is strictly liable

without regard to fault.

“SECTION 2. ORS 105.672 is amended to read:

“105.672. As used in ORS 105.672 to 105.696:

“(1) ‘Charge’:

“(a) Means the admission price or fee requested or expected by an owner

in return for granting permission for a person to enter or go upon the

owner’s land.

“(b) Does not mean any amount received from a public body in return for

granting permission for the public to enter or go upon the owner’s land.

“(c) Does not include the fee for a winter recreation parking permit or

any other parking fee of $15 or less per day.

“(2) ‘Harvest’ has that meaning given in ORS 164.813.

“(3) ‘Land’ includes all real property, whether publicly or privately

owned.

“(4) ‘Owner’ means:

“(a) The possessor of any interest in any land, including but not limited

to the holder of any legal or equitable title, a tenant, a lessee, an occupant,

the holder of an easement, the holder of a right of way or a person in pos-

session of the land;

“(b) An officer, employee, volunteer or agent of a person described in

paragraph (a) of this subsection, while acting within the scope of assigned

 SB 1576-3 2/5/24
 Proposed Amendments to SB 1576 Page 3

Page 14 of 62



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

duties; and

“(c) A director, partner, general partner, shareholder, limited liability

company member, limited liability partner or limited partner of a person

described in paragraph (a) of this subsection.

“(5) ‘Recreational purposes’ includes, but is not limited to, outdoor ac-

tivities such as hunting, fishing, swimming, boating, camping, picnicking,

hiking, walking, running, bicycling, nature study, outdoor educational

activities, waterskiing, winter sports, viewing or enjoying historical,

archaeological, scenic or scientific sites or volunteering for any public pur-

pose project.

“(6) ‘Special forest products’ has that meaning given in ORS 164.813.

“(7) ‘Woodcutting’ means the cutting or removal of wood from land by an

individual who has obtained permission from the owner of the land to cut

or remove wood.

“SECTION 3. ORS 105.688 is amended to read:

“105.688. (1) Except as specifically provided in ORS 105.672 to 105.696, the

immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to:

“(a) All land, including but not limited to land adjacent or contiguous to

any bodies of water, watercourses or the ocean shore as defined by ORS

390.605;

“(b) All roads, bodies of water, watercourses, rights of way, buildings,

fixtures and structures on the land described in paragraph (a) of this sub-

section;

“(c) All paths, trails, roads, watercourses and other rights of way, while

being used by a person to reach land for recreational purposes, gardening,

woodcutting or the harvest of special forest products, that are on land ad-

jacent to the land that the person intends to use for recreational purposes,

gardening, woodcutting or the harvest of special forest products, [and that

have] provided that:

“(A) The right of way has not been improved, designed or maintained

 SB 1576-3 2/5/24
 Proposed Amendments to SB 1576 Page 4

Page 15 of 62



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

for the specific purpose of providing access for recreational purposes, gar-

dening, woodcutting or the harvest of special forest products; [and] or

“(B)(i) The right of way has been improved, designed or maintained

to provide access for recreational purposes, gardening, woodcutting

or the harvest of special forest products;

“(ii) The right of way is not a highway maintained under ORS

810.010; and

“(iii) The improvement, design or maintenance was completed in a

manner that does not constitute:

“(I) Gross negligence or reckless, wanton or intentional miscon-

duct; or

“(II) An activity for which the actor is strictly liable without regard

to fault; and

“(d) All machinery or equipment on the land described in paragraph (a)

of this subsection.

“(2) The immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to land if the owner

transfers an easement to a public body to use the land.

“(3) Except as provided in subsections (4) to (7) of this section, the im-

munities provided by ORS 105.682 do not apply if the owner makes any

charge for permission to use the land for recreational purposes, gardening,

woodcutting or the harvest of special forest products.

“(4) If the owner charges for permission to use the owner’s land for one

or more specific recreational purposes and the owner provides notice in the

manner provided by subsection (8) of this section, the immunities provided

by ORS 105.682 apply to any use of the land other than the activities for

which the charge is imposed. If the owner charges for permission to use a

specified part of the owner’s land for recreational purposes and the owner

provides notice in the manner provided by subsection (8) of this section, the

immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to the remainder of the owner’s

land.

 SB 1576-3 2/5/24
 Proposed Amendments to SB 1576 Page 5

Page 16 of 62



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

“(5) The immunities provided by ORS 105.682 for gardening do not apply

if the owner charges more than $25 per year for the use of the land for

gardening. If the owner charges more than $25 per year for the use of the

land for gardening, the immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to any use

of the land other than gardening. If the owner charges more than $25 per

year for permission to use a specific part of the owner’s land for gardening

and the owner provides notice in the manner provided by subsection (8) of

this section, the immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to the remainder

of the owner’s land.

“(6) The immunities provided by ORS 105.682 for woodcutting do not apply

if the owner charges more than $75 per cord for permission to use the land

for woodcutting. If the owner charges more than $75 per cord for the use of

the land for woodcutting, the immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to

any use of the land other than woodcutting. If the owner charges more than

$75 per cord for permission to use a specific part of the owner’s land for

woodcutting and the owner provides notice in the manner provided by sub-

section (8) of this section, the immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to

the remainder of the owner’s land.

“(7) The immunities provided by ORS 105.682 for the harvest of special

forest products do not apply if the owner makes any charge for permission

to use the land for the harvest of special forest products. If the owner

charges for permission to use the owner’s land for the harvest of special

forest products, the immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to any use of

the land other than the harvest of special forest products. If the owner

charges for permission to use a specific part of the owner’s land for har-

vesting special forest products and the owner provides notice in the manner

provided by subsection (8) of this section, the immunities provided by ORS

105.682 apply to the remainder of the owner’s land.

“(8) Notices under subsections (4) to (7) of this section may be given by

posting, as part of a receipt, or by such other means as may be reasonably

 SB 1576-3 2/5/24
 Proposed Amendments to SB 1576 Page 6

Page 17 of 62



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

calculated to apprise a person of:

“(a) The limited uses of the land for which the charge is made, and the

immunities provided under ORS 105.682 for other uses of the land; or

“(b) The portion of the land the use of which is subject to the charge, and

the immunities provided under ORS 105.682 for the remainder of the land.

“SECTION 4. ORS 105.668, as amended by section 1 of this 2024 Act, is

amended to read:

“105.668. (1) As used in this section:

“(a) ‘Local government’ [has the meaning given that term in ORS

174.116] means a city or county.

“(b) ‘Structures’ means improvements in a trail, including, but not limited

to, stairs and bridges, that are accessible by a user on foot, on a horse or

on a bicycle or other nonmotorized vehicle or conveyance.

“(c) ‘Unimproved right of way’ means a platted or dedicated public right

of way over which a street, road or highway has not been constructed to the

standards and specifications of the local government with jurisdiction over

the public right of way and for which the local government has not expressly

accepted responsibility for maintenance.

“(2) In a city with a population of 500,000 or greater, a personal injury

or property damage resulting from use of a trail that is in a public easement

or in an unimproved right of way, or from use of structures in the public

easement or unimproved right of way, by a user on foot, on a horse or on a

bicycle or other nonmotorized vehicle or conveyance does not give rise to a

private claim or right of action based on negligence against:

“(a) The city;

“(b) The officers, employees or agents of the city to the extent the offi-

cers, employees or agents are entitled to defense and indemnification under

ORS 30.285;

“(c) The owner of land abutting the public easement or unimproved right

of way in the city; or

 SB 1576-3 2/5/24
 Proposed Amendments to SB 1576 Page 7

Page 18 of 62



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

“(d) A nonprofit corporation and its volunteers for the construction and

maintenance of the trail or the structures in a public easement or unim-

proved right of way in the city.

“(3) A local government to which subsection (2) of this section does not

apply may opt to limit liability in the manner established by subsection (2)

of this section by ordinance, resolution, rule, order or other regulation for:

“(a) The local government;

“(b) The officers, employees or agents of the local government to the ex-

tent the officers, employees or agents are entitled to defense and

indemnification under ORS 30.285;

“(c) The owner of land abutting the public easement or unimproved right

of way in the local government; or

“(d) A nonprofit corporation and its volunteers for the construction and

maintenance of the trail or the structures in a public easement or unim-

proved right of way in the local government.

“(4) This section does not grant immunity from liability:

“(a) Except as provided in subsection (2)(b) or (3)(b) of this section, to a

person that receives compensation for providing assistance, services or ad-

vice in relation to conduct that leads to a personal injury or property dam-

age.

“(b) For gross negligence or reckless, wanton or intentional misconduct.

“(c) For an activity for which a person is strictly liable without regard

to fault.

“SECTION 5. ORS 105.672, as amended by section 2 of this 2024 Act, is

amended to read:

“105.672. As used in ORS 105.672 to 105.696:

“(1) ‘Charge’:

“(a) Means the admission price or fee requested or expected by an owner

in return for granting permission for a person to enter or go upon the

owner’s land.

 SB 1576-3 2/5/24
 Proposed Amendments to SB 1576 Page 8

Page 19 of 62



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

“(b) Does not mean any amount received from a public body in return for

granting permission for the public to enter or go upon the owner’s land.

“(c) Does not include the fee for a winter recreation parking permit or

any other parking fee of $15 or less per day.

“(2) ‘Harvest’ has that meaning given in ORS 164.813.

“(3) ‘Land’ includes all real property, whether publicly or privately

owned.

“(4) ‘Owner’ means:

“(a) The possessor of any interest in any land, including but not limited

to the holder of any legal or equitable title, a tenant, a lessee, an occupant,

the holder of an easement, the holder of a right of way or a person in pos-

session of the land;

“(b) An officer, employee, volunteer or agent of a person described in

paragraph (a) of this subsection, while acting within the scope of assigned

duties; and

“(c) A director, partner, general partner, shareholder, limited liability

company member, limited liability partner or limited partner of a person

described in paragraph (a) of this subsection.

“(5) ‘Recreational purposes’ includes, but is not limited to, outdoor ac-

tivities such as hunting, fishing, swimming, boating, camping, picnicking,

hiking, [walking, running, bicycling,] nature study, outdoor educational ac-

tivities, waterskiing, winter sports, viewing or enjoying historical,

archaeological, scenic or scientific sites or volunteering for any public pur-

pose project.

“(6) ‘Special forest products’ has that meaning given in ORS 164.813.

“(7) ‘Woodcutting’ means the cutting or removal of wood from land by an

individual who has obtained permission from the owner of the land to cut

or remove wood.

“SECTION 6. ORS 105.688, as amended by section 3 of this 2024 Act, is

amended to read:

 SB 1576-3 2/5/24
 Proposed Amendments to SB 1576 Page 9

Page 20 of 62



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

“105.688. (1) Except as specifically provided in ORS 105.672 to 105.696, the

immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to:

“(a) All land, including but not limited to land adjacent or contiguous to

any bodies of water, watercourses or the ocean shore as defined by ORS

390.605;

“(b) All roads, bodies of water, watercourses, rights of way, buildings,

fixtures and structures on the land described in paragraph (a) of this sub-

section;

“(c) All paths, trails, roads, watercourses and other rights of way, while

being used by a person to reach land for recreational purposes, gardening,

woodcutting or the harvest of special forest products, that are on land ad-

jacent to the land that the person intends to use for recreational purposes,

gardening, woodcutting or the harvest of special forest products, provided

that[:]

“[(A)] the right of way has not been improved, designed or maintained for

the specific purpose of providing access for recreational purposes, gardening,

woodcutting or the harvest of special forest products; [or] and

“[(B)(i) The right of way has been improved, designed or maintained to

provide access for recreational purposes, gardening, woodcutting or the harvest

of special forest products;]

“[(ii) The right of way is not a highway maintained under ORS 810.010;

and]

“[(iii) The improvement, design or maintenance was completed in a manner

that does not constitute:]

“[(I) Gross negligence or reckless, wanton or intentional misconduct; or]

“[(II) An activity for which the actor is strictly liable without regard to

fault; and]

“(d) All machinery or equipment on the land described in paragraph (a)

of this subsection.

“(2) The immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to land if the owner

 SB 1576-3 2/5/24
 Proposed Amendments to SB 1576 Page 10

Page 21 of 62



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

transfers an easement to a public body to use the land.

“(3) Except as provided in subsections (4) to (7) of this section, the im-

munities provided by ORS 105.682 do not apply if the owner makes any

charge for permission to use the land for recreational purposes, gardening,

woodcutting or the harvest of special forest products.

“(4) If the owner charges for permission to use the owner’s land for one

or more specific recreational purposes and the owner provides notice in the

manner provided by subsection (8) of this section, the immunities provided

by ORS 105.682 apply to any use of the land other than the activities for

which the charge is imposed. If the owner charges for permission to use a

specified part of the owner’s land for recreational purposes and the owner

provides notice in the manner provided by subsection (8) of this section, the

immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to the remainder of the owner’s

land.

“(5) The immunities provided by ORS 105.682 for gardening do not apply

if the owner charges more than $25 per year for the use of the land for

gardening. If the owner charges more than $25 per year for the use of the

land for gardening, the immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to any use

of the land other than gardening. If the owner charges more than $25 per

year for permission to use a specific part of the owner’s land for gardening

and the owner provides notice in the manner provided by subsection (8) of

this section, the immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to the remainder

of the owner’s land.

“(6) The immunities provided by ORS 105.682 for woodcutting do not apply

if the owner charges more than $75 per cord for permission to use the land

for woodcutting. If the owner charges more than $75 per cord for the use of

the land for woodcutting, the immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to

any use of the land other than woodcutting. If the owner charges more than

$75 per cord for permission to use a specific part of the owner’s land for

woodcutting and the owner provides notice in the manner provided by sub-

 SB 1576-3 2/5/24
 Proposed Amendments to SB 1576 Page 11

Page 22 of 62



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

section (8) of this section, the immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to

the remainder of the owner’s land.

“(7) The immunities provided by ORS 105.682 for the harvest of special

forest products do not apply if the owner makes any charge for permission

to use the land for the harvest of special forest products. If the owner

charges for permission to use the owner’s land for the harvest of special

forest products, the immunities provided by ORS 105.682 apply to any use of

the land other than the harvest of special forest products. If the owner

charges for permission to use a specific part of the owner’s land for har-

vesting special forest products and the owner provides notice in the manner

provided by subsection (8) of this section, the immunities provided by ORS

105.682 apply to the remainder of the owner’s land.

“(8) Notices under subsections (4) to (7) of this section may be given by

posting, as part of a receipt, or by such other means as may be reasonably

calculated to apprise a person of:

“(a) The limited uses of the land for which the charge is made, and the

immunities provided under ORS 105.682 for other uses of the land; or

“(b) The portion of the land the use of which is subject to the charge, and

the immunities provided under ORS 105.682 for the remainder of the land.

“SECTION 7. (1) The amendments to ORS 105.668, 105.672 and 105.688

by sections 4 to 6 of this 2024 Act become operative on January 2, 2026.

“(2) An ordinance, resolution, rule, order or other regulation under

ORS 105.668 (3) that is adopted by a local government other than a city

or county is not effective after January 2, 2026.

“SECTION 8. This 2024 Act being necessary for the immediate

preservation of the public peace, health and safety, an emergency is

declared to exist, and this 2024 Act takes effect on its passage.”.

 SB 1576-3 2/5/24
 Proposed Amendments to SB 1576 Page 12

Page 23 of 62



Annual Recreation Area Audit 
Entity Date 
Location Description  
 
 

Circle all inspection methods that apply 
Walk Bike Motorized Vehicle Watercraft Drone Other 

Assets Inspected Yes No N/A Category 1-5 
Walkways Non-entity created paths and trails     
 Paved paths and trails      
 Sidewalks     
 Stairs     
 Unpaved paths and trails     
Recreation Ball Fields      
 Bike or BMX track or trail     
 Boat Ramps     
 Game Areas      
 Parking Lots     
 Playgrounds      
 Sport Courts     
Gathering Spaces Gazebos      
 Seating     
 Shelters     
 Tables     
Miscellaneous 
 

Bathrooms     
 Drinking Fountains     
 Gardens     
 Shoreline     

 
Reasons for Areas Not Inspected 

A) Unable to access safely C) 
B) Water level too high D) 

 
Number of immediate hazards identified, and work orders 

      
 

 
Location Priority Category (assign a 1-5 number)  

Priority Explanation  
 
 
 

Dates of Periodic Audit Review 
    

Report Completed By 
Name   

 

Page 24 of 62



Park/Trail/Space Location Initials Date Improvements
City Park
Depoe Bay City Park Harbor boat launch area Playground

  Swingset

  Structure

  Bounce structures

Gazebo

Pedestrian Bridge

Basketball net

Nature Trail Access from City Park East Bridge 

West Bridge

Benches

Tables

Page 25 of 62



Park/Trail/Space Location Initials Improvements
Along Highway 101/Shoreline
Whale Park Sea wall - between Bradford & 

Clarke St
Benches

Fountain

Whale

Pirate Cove Lookout Trail North of Pirate Cove/South end of 
Worldmark

Public view area sign

South of Channel Lookout 
Trail

South of channel; north of 
Ellingson Street

Public pedestrian easement

One bench

Public Viewing Area Signs (2)

Stone steps to connect to 101 sidewalk

Relocate power pole/remove line

Graham Street Lookout 
Trail

West side of Coast Avenue 2 1/2 foot pathway

Bench

Public Viewing Sign

Highway 101 Open 
Space/Scenic Lands Area

South of Sunset/North of Tidal 
Raves

4 benches

2 picnic tables
W of Bechill/S of Tidal Raves Loop trail with steps from 101

Picnic tables & benches

Public view area sign

West of Berg Street Public view area sign

Page 26 of 62



Planting buffer between bench & cliff

West of Bradford Street Paved overlook area

High wall or railing at west end

Steps to lower flat surface

Trail to central portion of site

2 benches

Public view area sign

Ellingson Street Open 
Space

West of Ellingson Street Remove encroaching fence

Kent Street Open Space West side of Coast Avenue Two benches

Public view area sign

Beach Street Open Space West side of Coast Avenue Natural state

Page 27 of 62



Park/Trail/Space Location Initials Improvements
North Point Area
Spencer Avenue Lookout 
Trail

North of Spencer/Harney 
intersection

Gravel parking

Logs as parking barriers

Public Viewing Area Sign

Interpretive Sign

Harney Street Lookout Trail West of Harney/Spencer 
intersection

Bench top of bluff

North Vista Street Lookout 
Trail

North side of Vista, 70 ft of 
Vista/Yaquina intersection

Bench

Public Viewing Area Sign

Plantings

Siletz Avenue Lookout Trail North of Vista/Siletz intersection Bench top of bluff

Public Viewing Area Sign

Low plant landscaping

Vista Streeet Lookout Trail NW corner; near Vista/Alsea 
intersection

Parking

Steps

Picnic table

Benchs

Public Viewing Area Sign

Interpretive Sign

Lee Street Lookout Trail West of Alsea Avenue Steps from bench to Vista Trail

Public Viewing Area Sign

Page 28 of 62



Sunset Street/Surf Ave & 
Alsea Ave Lookout Trails

West end of Sunset, south end of 
Alsea

2 public parking spaces

2 public view area/parking signs

2 benches top of bluff

Picnic table

Steps

Cove View Lookout Trail 
(Big Tire Park)

South of Sunset/Spencer 
intersection

Bench

Sign
Floral Avenue Lookout 
Trail

South of Sunset/Floral intersection Public Viewing Area Sign

Picnic table

Page 29 of 62



Park/Trail/Space Location Initials Improvements
Interior of City
Winchell Streeet Lookout 
Trail

Winchell Streeet end at harbor Dead End sign

No Parking sign near Port Condos entrance

Bench - barrier & slope

Steps & trail from top of slope to harbor 
parking
Picnic table area

Planting for screening from residences

Berg Street Open Space East end of Berg at Williams Maintain grassy area

Public bench

Community Hall Bay & Bayview Avenue Paved parking lots

Sidewalk/path

Landscaping lawn

Replace guardrail w/decorative fencing

Trail to Davenport Avenue

Page 30 of 62



Condition/Notes/Needs

Page 31 of 62



Condition/Notes/Needs

Page 32 of 62



Page 33 of 62



Condition/Notes/Needs

Page 34 of 62



Page 35 of 62



Condition/Notes/Needs

Page 36 of 62



Page 37 of 62



Page 38 of 62



Page 39 of 62



Page 40 of 62



Page 41 of 62



Page 42 of 62



Page 43 of 62



Page 44 of 62



Page 45 of 62



Page 46 of 62



Page 47 of 62



Page 48 of 62



Page 49 of 62



Page 50 of 62



Page 51 of 62



Page 52 of 62



Page 53 of 62



Page 54 of 62



Page 55 of 62



Page 56 of 62



Page 57 of 62



Page 58 of 62



Page 59 of 62



Page 60 of 62



Page 61 of 62



Page 62 of 62


	A_Parks 2-21-2024 Agenda
	City of Depoe Bay
	Parks Commission Monthly Meeting
	February 21, 2024 – Wednesday, noon
	Depoe Bay City Hall – 570 SE Shell Avenue

	D.1b_Poop & Scoop Law _ Englewood, NJ_sample web page
	D.1c_Dog poop ordinance difficult for municipalities to enforce _ _ times-news.com
	D.2b_SB 25669_Rec Immunity
	D.2c_Recreational Audit
	D.3b_Park Inventory
	Sheet1

	D.3c_Parks Projects
	lewis_2
	lewis_3
	lewis_4




